
  1368 Research Park Dr 
 Beavercreek, Ohio 

  
       BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting – January 7, 2026, 6:00 p.m. 
 

 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. ROLL CALL 

 
III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. December 3, 2025 
 

V. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
A. PUD 26-1, Raider Row Rezoning  
B. PUD 25-1 SSP #1, Creekwood Preserve  
C. PUD 97-1 AMEND 1/26, Hampton Inn/Homewood Suites  
D. PUD 97-1 MOD 1/26, Major, Hampton Inn/Homewood Suites 

 
VI. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
 



1 
 
 

BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING, December 3, 2025 
  
PRESENT: Mr. Fountain, Mr. Jones, Mr. Meyer, Ms. Palumbo, Mr. Self 
  
ABSENT: Mr. Jones 
 
Chairman Self called the meeting to order followed by roll call. 
 
Mr. Meyer MOVED to excuse Mr. Jones from the meeting. Motion was seconded 
by Mr. Fountain and PASSED by majority voice vote.    
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Mr. Fountain MOVED approval of the agenda. Motion was seconded by Ms. 
Palumbo and PASSED by majority voice vote.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Mr. Fountain MOVED approval of the November 5, 2025 minutes. Motion was 
seconded by Mr. Meyer and PASSED by majority voice vote.  
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
PC 25-9 CU, Birch Hill 
Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by Beavercreek 
Lodging, LLC, 1537 Burberry Lane, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173. The applicant 
requests conditional use approval to allow for an apartment hotel to be 
operated out of the existing building located at 3845 Germany Lane. The 
property is further described as Book 1, Page 9, Parcel 63 on the Greene County 
Property Tax Atlas.    
 
Mr. Burkett summarized the staff report dated November 25, 2025, which stated 
the applicant is requesting conditional use approval to continue to occupy the 
existing building at 3845 Germany Lane and to continue to run the business as 
an apartment hotel. He discussed the location of the property, the surrounding 
businesses, the existing conditions on the site, the property approval history, the 
code enforcement action done in October 2025, the conditional use approval 
standards, the substantial detrimental effect this use has had, and the property 
limitations in terms of parking space requirements and the impervious surface 
requirements. Staff recommended denial of the case given the fact it currently 
has detrimental effects because of the higher crime rates compared to their 
peer hotels and the fact they cannot meet the minimum parking standards for 
the proposed use. Mr. Burkett explained if the case was denied, staff plans on 
giving anyone who has been there longer than 182 days until the end of January 
2026 to find alternate accommodations.   
 
In public input, Stewart Smith, Vice President of the self-storage facility next 
door, stated there was constant police activity on their site looking over at the 
hotel and monitoring what they are doing. He explained they have set up for 
drug raids on their property to go in there, there is constant loitering in the back 
parking lot, tenants are uncomfortable because people are using drugs in the 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

2 
 
 

parking lot, and they are already using it as an extended stay. Mr. Smith believed 
it needed to end as soon as possible.    
 
In written input, an email was received from Deborah Smith, Managing 
Member/Owner of the self-storage facility, that was opposed to the conditional 
use case.  
 
There being no further public input, the public hearing was closed.  
 
Counsel Lounsbury explained the Commission normally sees legislative cases, 
when zoning is being change, or administrative cases, when they review 
administrative site plans. He stated the BZA sits as a quasi-judicial board all the 
time, but this was the one time Planning Commission does since this case is a 
conditional use. Counsel Lounsbury said they have to think of themselves as a 
judge in a bench trial. He explained they are making findings of fact and the 
ultimate decision. Counsel Lounsbury stated that is why they need to make 
findings on the record based on the evidence that has been submitted, the staff 
report, the application, and the testimony that was give. He believed staff has 
done a great job of putting forth the zoning code provisions that need to be 
met. He said all three provisions need to be met in order to get approval for the 
conditional use and the applicant has the burden of proof of proofing they have 
met all of those conditions. Counsel Lounsbury discussed traffic, and stated 
zoning decisions cannot be based on traffic. He did not believe traffic was an 
issue here, and the City’s main focus is they don’t believe they meet Criteria B.  
 
Mr. Burkett stated that was correct, and the reasoning for the recommendation 
of denial was Criteria B. He explained the Commissioners’ questions should 
come from the evidence presented and not questions outside of what the 
evidence shows or what they make their determination based on. 
 
Mr. Fountain said the conditional use approval tonight means they do not have 
permission to operate the way they have been already. Mr. Burkett said from a 
technical standpoint if the code was being followed the business would not 
operate until a conditional use was approved. Mr. Fountain stated they don’t 
exactly know when the facility started operating with patrons who have been 
there past the 182 day limit, but questioned if staff thought it had been for a 
period of time. Mr. Burkett stated it had been a while based on the number of 
days some of the patrons have stayed.  
 
Mr. Fountain referenced the Zoning Code and said regardless what the Code 
was when it was constructed or current code, they do not meet the impervious 
surface requirements. He said they were already in noncompliance with 
whatever approval they could get because the building and parking lot are over 
the allowable impervious surface requirements. Mr. Burkett explained we limit 
75% now, but he was not sure what was in 2004. He stated his reasoning for 
bringing that up was because they are grandfathered in with the 82% they have 
currently, which means they do not have room to expand their impervious 
surface under the current zoning code.  



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

3 
 
 

 
Mr. Fountain referred the fire marshal survey from October, and said it was 
found that a significant number of residents exceeded the 182 day limit and 
assumed that was validation that they were clearly not in compliance. Mr. 
Burkett explained the 182 day requirement was the City’s limit with a 
hotel/motel, and what the City was saying is anything more than 51% of a 
calendar year is deemed their permanent residence. Mr. Fountain stated if they 
had not gotten approval for the apartment hotel use, he questioned if they were 
still held to the 182 days limit. Mr. Burkett stated from a zoning perspective, they 
are not allowed to have people there for longer than 182 days unless they have 
conditional use approval for an apartment hotel. Mr. Fountain said if that use 
was allowed it would then impact the parking requirements, and they would be 
47 spaces short. Mr. Burkett said yes for the apartment hotel use they would be 
47 spaces short.   
 
Mr. Fountain questioned how the police reports were requested, and wanted to 
make sure it was based on the use and not because of the location or the 
properties contiguous to it. Mr. Burkett explained the report was based off calls 
for service for everything that has been operating as a hotel or hotel-like 
property.  
 
Mr. Fountain believed they have been operating as a non-compliance use for an 
extended period of time. He stated the parking requirements have not and could 
not be met, patrons have stayed longer than the allowed 182 day limit, and they 
have had a disproportionate amount of dispatch calls compared to the other 
hotels in Beavercreek.   
 
Mr. Meyer asked if the number of service calls included fire or if it was just 
police. Mr. Burkett explained it was just police only. Mr. Meyer stated normally 
they hear conditional use cases where the business was not in use yet, and 
questioned if anything changed since the business was already in use. Counsel 
Lounsbury said no, and the decision being made tonight was about future use. 
He explained prior use may result in a zoning code violation being issued, which 
would go to the Board of Zoning Appeals if it was appealed. Counsel Lounsbury 
stated they are only looking at if they could operate as an apartment hotel 
moving forward.   
 
Ms. Palumbo said if they were not to approve the apartment hotel, she 
questioned if an extended stay hotel use would be legal under the zoning code. 
Mr. Burkett said no because the extended stay hotel does not have a defined 
number of days so they default back to anything over 182 days which is then 
considered a permanent residence. Ms. Palumbo asked if the parking 
requirements could be considered as part of the conditional use standards in the 
code. Mr. Burkett explained it could be considered as part of Criteria C, but since 
all three standards have to be met, staff primarily focused on Criteria B. Counsel 
Lounsbury believed the amount of parking available would be covered under 
Criteria B. He said if there was not enough parking on their site and the patrons 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

4 
 
 

were parking on other properties nearby, he questioned if it had substantial or 
material detrimental effect on the surrounding properties then.   
     
Mr. Burkett stated when the chairman called for the applicant’s presentation, 
there was no one present. He said the applicant was mailed a certified letter on 
November 18, 2025, stating the public hearing was tonight, and the applicant did 
receive it.   
 
Mr. Self questioned in 2001 and in 2004 if there was a separate category in the 
Zoning Code for extended stay motel. Mr. Burkett said no, and the current Code 
does not have extended stay motel listed either. Mr. Self asked if in 2004 if this 
was approved as a motel by BZA. Mr. Burkett said yes. Mr. Self said according to 
our current code and code back then, it was not compliant with the 
requirements for a motel. Mr. Burkett said that was correct. Mr. Self stated if 
they were to approve this conditionally as an apartment hotel there was no way 
the parking requirements could be met. He explained if this was a rezoning or a 
specific site plan case, that would be a valid reason to turn down the application. 
Mr. Burkett agreed, and said it would be a reason for staff to recommend 
disapproval. Mr. Self stated they have a facility that is non complying with what 
they were originally approved for, and there was no way they could be 
compliant with what they are asking as a conditional use.   
 
Mr. Fountain asked how Stewart Smith, public speaker, was linked to the letter 
the Commissioners received. Mr. Smith stated the letter referenced his middle 
name which is what he goes by.  
 
Mr. Fountain MOVED to deny PC 25-9 CU for not meeting the criteria of Chapter 
158.171(C)(4)(b) specific to not having adequate parking spaces, exceeding the  
impervious surface site coverage, and the disproportional increase of police 
dispatches to this specific site versus the other hotels in the City. Motion was 
seconded by Mr. Meyer. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 4-0. 
 
PUD 541 MOD 11/25, Major, McDonald’s  
Clerk Gillaugh read the public hearing on an application filed by Vanessa Stickel, 
3595 Albrecht Avenue, Akron, OH 44312. The applicant requests a major 
modification to allow for the construction of a 4,192 sq. ft. restaurant on 0.9 
acres. The property is located at 4380 Indian Ripple Road further described as 
Book 3, Page 7, Parcel 174 on the Greene County Property Tax Atlas.  
 
Vanessa Stickel stated they are requesting approval of a McDonald’s located on 
an outlot within the Greene Crossing on Indian Ripple Road. She gave the 
history of McDonald’s, and reviewed the site plan and elevation drawings of the 
building. She discussed the signage, and the trash enclosure. Ms. Stickel stated 
McDonald’s was in agreement with all the conditions listed in the resolution, and 
showed the changes they have already made to four of the conditions.   
 
Colin Wisniewski, McDonald’s, introduced himself.  
 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

5 
 
 

Mr. Carville summarized the staff report dated November 24, 2025, which stated 
the applicant is requesting approval of a major modification to allow for the 
construction of a 4,192 square foot McDonald’s on 0.895 acres. He discussed the 
location of the site, the existing conditions, the surrounding properties’ zoning 
districts, the site plan, the building design, the elevation drawings, the parking 
requirements, the proposed landscaping plan, and the proposed signage. Staff 
recommended approval of the case with conditions.  
 
There being no public input, the public hearing was closed.  
 
Mr. Meyer asked if staff felt the pressure treated wood as the gate on the 
dumpster enclosure was sufficient. Mr. Carville said they are ok with it. Mr. Meyer 
questioned if there should be a condition limiting the amount of window 
signage. Mr. Carville said the Code states they are not allowed to go over 50% 
coverage, and no permits are required for window signs.  
 
Mr. Meyer questioned what the room was next to the dumpster. Ms. Stickel 
stated is a storage location for extra items that don’t fit within the footprint of 
the restaurant. Mr. Meyer asked what the height was. Mr. Wisniewski believed it 
matched the height of the trash enclosure. He looked at the plan and said it was 
nine feet four inches. Mr. Meyer questioned what the use was of the second pick 
up window. Mr. Wisniewski explained the first window was the pay booth, the 
second window is where they serve the food, and if someone’s order is taking 
longer than they can have them pull forward to be served at the third window. 
Mr. Meyer said there are three service doors on the street side of the building, 
and asked if there was a way to reduce the number of doors. Mr. Wisniewski 
explained the one door was used for dry stock, the second door was the CO2 
closet, and the third was the freezer cooler. Mr. Meyer thought anything that 
could be done to help screen those would be good.  
 
Ms. Palumbo said since McDonald’s was such a popular restaurant, she 
questioned if there were any guidelines to make sure there was not an 
oversaturation of McDonald’s within a certain area. Mr. Wisniewski explained 
they do extensive research to determine where their new restaurants should be 
located.  
 
Mr. Fountain questioned if they looked at the other McDonald’s site in the 
Beavercreek Towne Centre where the stacking was similar. Mr. Wisniewski 
explained the layouts are done on a case by case basis based on the specific 
site. He said with the third pick up window and the two designated parking 
spaces for waiting drive through patrons, he believed the stacking concern 
beyond the front corner of the building would not be an issue. Mr. Fountain was 
concerned about the stacking of the drive through and the handicap parking 
spaces. Mr. Wisniewski explained per ADA requirements, the crosswalk needs to 
be to the closest point of entry. Mr. Fountain questioned if they don’t anticipate 
the stacking impacting the handicap entrance area during peak times. Mr. 
Wisniewski said he did not foresee it happening. Mr. Fountain explained he had 
seen the stacking issues at the Beavercreek Towne Centre location, and that was 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

6 
 
 

why he was questioning if they had looked at any other stacking configurations 
on the site.  Mr. Wisniewski explained they are limited with the size of the lot to 
add a lane and maintain the bypass lane around the building. Mr. Fountain asked 
where the ground sign was going to be located. Mr. Wisniewski stated it would 
be located in the southeast corner of the lot.  
 
Mr. Self suggested if the stacking starts to flow outside of the property, they 
could put an arrow towards the front of the stack line and let cars back up into 
the adjacent parking lot rather than out onto the driveway. Mr. Wisniewski said 
they could do that with some pavement markings. Mr. Self thought the building 
was very attractive.  
 
Mr. Meyer said if there was a stacking issue, he questioned if staff was able to 
address it. Mr. Carville said yes, the Code does have requirements listed.   
 
Mr. Self asked if they were good on the pervious surface requirement. Mr. 
Carville confirmed they conform to the requirement.   
 
Mr. Fountain MOVED to approve PUD 541 MOD 11/25 with 20 conditions: 
 
1. All conditions contained in PUD 541, SSP #1 and all subsequent modifications 

to PUD 541 are incorporated herein by reference to the extent they are not 
specifically amended or altered by any plans and conditions with this Major 
Modification. 
 

2. The approved site, grading and utility plans shall be those plans dated 
“Received November 24, 2025” except as modified herein. 
 

3. The approved architectural elevations and signage plans shall be those plans 
dated “Received November 24, 2025” except as modified herein. 
 

4. All building mechanical equipment is to be screened from all directions with 
architectural features (roof forms or parapet walls) on the building. Pad 
mounted equipment must be screened with landscaping and/or masonry 
walls and shall not be visible to the public. 
 

5. A PUD Agreement must be signed by the owner/occupant and a bond or 
letter of credit for the required site landscaping must be submitted prior to 
issuance of a zoning permit for any portion of the project for the purpose, 
but not for the sole purpose, of insuring the installation of landscaping. Said 
bond or letter of credit must meet the requirements of the City’s 
landscaping and screening regulations. 
 

6. Perpetual maintenance of landscaping shall be provided and any dead or 
diseased materials shall be removed and replaced with similar types, species 
and sizes as originally planted within three months, weather permitting. 
 

7. All trash collection containers shall be enclosed within the building or 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

7 
 
 

screened from view and enclosed within a permanent dumpster enclosure. 
All dumpster enclosures shall be constructed with the same materials used 
to construct the building, the final design of which shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Department prior to the release of a zoning 
permit. 
 

8. The dumpster enclosure’s gate shall be constructed of a vinyl or composite 
material, or other material, to be approved by the Planning Department. The 
gate shall be painted to match the adjacent material. 
 

9. Temporary signs shall not be permitted within this development. 
 

10. All concerns of the City Engineer, Fire Department, Sanitary Engineer and 
the Planning Department shall be addressed and approved prior to the 
release of a zoning permit. 
 

11. All man doors and service doors shall be painted to match the color of the 
building as to blend in with the proposed facade. 
 

12. No portion of the building may be occupied for the first time or reoccupied 
later until and unless an application of a Certificate of Use Compliance has 
been submitted to the City by the property owner or by the prospective 
occupant. No such occupancy may occur until the application of Certificate 
of Use Compliance has been approved and issued by the City. 
 

13. The façade shall not be painted or altered without the express permission of 
the Planning Department and/or the Planning Commission. 
 

14. A final landscape plan and final photometric plan shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Department prior to the execution of the required 
PUD Agreement and the release of a zoning permit for the building. 
 

15. All wall signs shall be consistent with size and location of the proposed signs 
shown on the approved architectural elevations. 
 

16. The ground sign shall be situated on a brick base, and have brick sides, the 
material of which shall match the principal building. The final design shall be 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Department prior to the release of a 
zoning permit for the sign. 
 

17. The ground sign shall have no more than 50% electronic copy on each of the 
two faces. 
 

18. All wall signs shall be individually mounted channel letters, the use of 
raceways or painting of letters on the wall shall be prohibited. 
 

19. Downspouts shall be internally mounted and shall not be visible on the 
exterior of the structure or on any structure within this development except 



 
BEAVERCREEK PLANNING COMMISSION, 12/3/25 
 
 

8 
 
 

as specifically approved by the Planning Commission and/or Planning 
Department. 
 

20. EIFS parapet walls must extend 3 feet above the roofline. 
 
Motion was seconded by Mr. Meyer. Motion PASSED by a roll call vote of 4-0. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Mr.  Meyer MOVED adjournment at 7:11 p.m., seconded by Mr. Fountain. Motion 
PASSED by majority voice vote.    
 
_______________________ 
Melissa Gillaugh 
Deputy Clerk 
  
 






























































































































































































